

## EXCERPTS

### PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING

OCTOBER 4, 2018

#### Case No. 18-182

A request by Luebbert Engineering (agent) on behalf of D&D Investments of Columbia, LLC, for approval of a major amendment to the University Chrysler PD Plan. The original development plan (PD Plan) for the site was approved in 1972 and revised in 1975-76 and 1983. The purpose of the PD Plan amendment is to revise the buffer screening detail on the southern property boundary. The 4.63-acre site is zoned PD (Planned Development) and is addressed 1200 I-70 Drive Southwest.

MS. LOE: May we have a staff report, please?

Staff report was given by Ms. Rachel Bacon of the Planning and Development Department. Staff recommends approval of the PD plan amendment.

MS. LOE: Thank you, Ms. Bacon. Before we ask questions of staff, I would like to ask if any Commissioners had any ex parte prior to this meeting related to case 18-182. Seeing none. Are there any -- oh.

MR. MACMANN: Yes. Myself.

MR. LOE: Oh. Mr. MacMann?

MR. MACMANN: Thank you. For everyone's information, about two months ago, the president of a neighborhood association reached out to me in what I thought was a regulatory matter. They gave me a brief rundown, and I'll tell you what I recommended and I'll tell you what they told me. I recommended they contact their Councilperson, office of Neighborhood Services Community Development, and an attorney. They had engaged in all of those behaviors already. So I wanted to let you guys know I have that conversation.

MS. LOE: Thank you, Mr. MacMann. Any other Commissioners? Any questions of staff?

MR. MACMANN: I have questions of staff, if I may, or Dan?

MR. HARDER: I'm just kind of curious why the previous fence came down?

MS. LOE: Mr. Harder?

MR. HARDER: Sorry. Oh, I'm sorry. I didn't know if you said my name first. I was curious why the previous fence came down.

MS. BACON: I was told it was for maintenance purposes, that it had fallen into disrepair. I didn't see the fence or inspect it prior to it coming down, so I can't really attest to that.

MR. HARDER: Oh, okay.

MS. LOE: Mr. MacMann?

MR. MACMANN: Could you please tell us when that fence came down, or should we wait until the applicant comes up?

MS. BACON: I don't remember the exact date, but the applicant is here, and it was pretty

recently. It was just prior to filing this application.

MR. MACMANN: I have one more question, and I understand what legal is about to tell me and what Mr. Zenner is about to tell me, but I need to ask this question so my other Commissioners know. Is this case the subject of any lawsuits at this time?

MR. ZENNER: Mr. Caldera?

MR. CALDERA: Thank you, Mr. MacMann. It is my understanding that, yes, the parties are involved in litigation at this moment, and that there was a preliminary injunction ordered by the judge. Now, based on that, it's my understanding -- I haven't seen the preliminary injunction itself, but I have seen the temporary restraining order. And it's my understanding up to this point that there is nothing enjoining you all from taking the actions tonight. The injunction is actually on the parties' ability to get -- to basically tear anything down and so forth, so it's limited to them, so --

MR. MACMANN: Thank you, Mr. Caldera. Madam Chairperson, I am finished with questions, and at the end of the question period, I would like to make a statement.

MR. LOE: Thank you, Mr. MacMann. Ms. Rushing?

MS. RUSHING: Do you know where the fence was in relation to the edge of the pavement? Was it along the edge of the pavement and now it's going to be set back or --

MS. BACON: So there -- there's a parking lot. Let me see if I have graphic that might --

MR. ZENNER: The original 1972 plan, which did not have a fence on it, required a minimum buffer area of ten feet north of the southerly property line, so the buffer was -- well, would have been, had it been matured, to the residential Highland Subdivision side of the actual fence -- fence's former location. Given where the asphalt edge is right now, the fence was riding the existing asphalt edge or curb. There was, based on plan review that we have conducted, there is a small retaining wall and some other retaining wall improvements that were made towards the westerly end of the property to which the fence was placed behind. In essence, the area in question that the fence would be moved into is this southerly ten feet, as Ms. Bacon pointed out, mandatorily required in the '72 development plan to be left and planned as the buffer, which is, as Mr. Bacon pointed out, inconsistent with what today's regulation are. The fence would have been moved to the property line had our UDC standards existed.

MS. RUSHING: And do you know whether that's going to require moving any of these little outbuildings?

MS. BACON: No, ma'am. It shouldn't affect the existing buildings.

MS. RUSHING: I mean, some of them seem to be pretty close to that --

MS. BACON: You can see where the existing fence is right here, so that's right about ten feet.

MS. RUSHING: Right. But you can -- you can see that some of these are pretty close to that.

MS. BACON: Yeah. And it's not an exact measurement from the aerial by any means.

MS. LOE: Any additional questions? Seeing none. We'd like to open this up to public comment.

#### **PUBLIC HEARING OPENED**

MS. LOE: If anyone wants to come forward and provide any information that might help us in our

discussions, that would be wonderful. Please give us your name and address for the public record.

MR. HOLLIS: Good evening. My name is Robert Hollis; I'm an attorney with the VanMatre Law Firm at 1103 East Broadway. I'm here on behalf of the applicant, and I'm not sure where to start now, but I will tell you this. We could speak at length about the existing litigation, and so there are -- there are two lawsuits. There's absolutely no reason whatsoever to get into the substance of those lawsuits. What you have in front of you is a request for an amendment to a plan by the record property owner. It is the property owner of record as of this date, and it is -- I will say this. Based on my experience and I'm sure you would probably agree, is that what you're looking at is something that you typically wouldn't look at. And the reason you wouldn't is because it is minor. It is something that would typically be dealt with administratively. It would never get to you. It's that minor. It's the movement of a fence ten feet onto the boundary of the property line where it should have been in the first place. Now you asked why was it torn down and when was it torn down. Well, it was torn down a couple of months ago and the reason it was is because it was dilapidated, and it was falling down. It had been -- they had tried to repair it over the years. Now why was it there in the first place? We don't know. We don't know. It was the prior property owner. It was a mistake that it was put there in the first place, and it was not required by anything specifically. Of all of the amendments that came through, there was never a requirement for a fence. It just showed up and then -- so it was on a plan. Fine. We're not opposing that. What we're trying to do is comply with what the law says, and the law says -- the law, being the ordinances -- here's where the fence supposed to go. We want to put the fence there. Now why is this not being done administratively? It's not to blame staff. None -- no blame rests with staff whatsoever. It's that there are a couple of property owners. So there are six property owners adjacent to where the fence has been torn down and will be replaced. There are two lawsuits. One lawsuit is where a property owner is saying we own that ten feet. Well, they don't, but anyway that's what the lawsuit says. Anybody can file a lawsuit at any point in time. The other lawsuit was filed by us because one of the neighbors said, after we tore the fence down, hey, would you put a temporary fence up. Sure. So we put a temporary fence up. A couple of weeks passed, they tore the temporary fence down and put a new fence up to the north. Anyway, we said you can't have that -- we didn't tear the fence down like they did. We said you can't have the fence there, and so we took action by filing a lawsuit saying, you have to move that fence. Anyway, all of that, frankly, is absolutely irrelevant to what we're talking about here. What we're talking about is, you have a plan in front of you. The record property owner has submitted that plan. Staff has reviewed it, staff has required what we have proposed, and has recommended approval, and we are willing party in that regard. To the extent that I can answer any questions or my client can answer any questions, we'd be happy to. You are going to hear some, I'm suspecting, some passionate testimony from adjacent property owners. Keep in mind -- not keep in mind. Just so you know, we have reached out to every adjacent property owner. We have reached out to the neighborhood association to communicate with them to the extent that we can, and all we can do, right, is try. And so what we're required to do is what you have been presented with. We will do our best to answer any questions. Thank you.

MS. LOE: Are there any questions for this speaker? Ms. Rushing?

MS. RUSHING: So what would be the effect if the one property owner who believes that their property line extends to -- into that ten-foot area, what would -- if they are successful with that argument, what would be the effect of that on your plans to put up a fence?

MR. HOLLIS: As of today, it would have no effect whatsoever. It's still PD zoned. It is still going to be property that has to be compliant with the City zoning ordinances. The fence goes where the fence is supposed to go.

MS. RUSHING: But your argument is that it goes ten feet south of where the pavement ends?

MR. HOLLIS: It goes to the property line, right. Right. So you can imagine arguments where if somebody else owned the property, which they don't, are you asking to --

MS. RUSHING: No. I'm just -- it's a what if.

MR. HOLLIS: What if somebody else owned the property? Yeah, that would be confusing. Right.

MS. RUSHING: Okay.

MR. HOLLIS: It still wouldn't change anything, the fact that the property is zoned what it is, and it's still part of a plan. Regardless of who owns it, it's still part of a plan that has to be complied with.

MS. RUSHING: Then do -- okay. Do you intend to make these changes as soon as they're approved by the City?

MR. HOLLIS: Immediately. Correct.

MS. LOE: Mr. MacMann?

MR. MACMANN: For clarity sake, Mr. Hollis, who built this fence?

MR. HOLLIS: Who what?

MR. MACMANN: Who built this fence?

MR. HOLLIS: The prior property owner. I don't recall the name of the entity.

MR. MACMANN: But the folks that owned it before D&D owned it?

MR. HOLLIS: Correct.

MR. MACMANN: Help me understand here and perhaps Ms. Bacon can help me understand here. This fence continues to the west for, I don't know, another 50 or 100 feet and makes a big curve to the south, then it's identical fence?

MR. HOLLIS: Okay. Can I answer?

MR. MACMANN: I'm just trying -- it looks like someone built -- that someone else built the fence and I'm confused.

MR. HOLLIS: So -- so I probably should have brought a graphic. So what you have is you have from Hunt to --

MR. MACMANN: London.

MR. HOLLIS: -- to west.

MR. MACMANN: Okay.

MR. HOLLIS: So going from east to west, you have a fence that's on the property line of every property owner that goes like this. And what happened was, the prior property owner for this 400 feet built a fence right here, and it fell down.

MR. MACMANN: This property -- let me -- just -- if you don't know the answer, that's fine. But this fence curves in a U going back to -- towards west.

MR. HOLLIS: A U. It's pretty much like this. It's pretty much perpendicular.

MR. MACMANN: All right. Well, apparently, we disagree with what we see. One more question, the last question.

MR. HOLLIS: Okay.

MR. MACMANN: The property south of the -- what is now the edge of the asphalt for these six yards, who has been maintaining this for these many years, since '83 or whatever?

MR. HOLLIS: Are you talking about the property that's south of where the old fence was?

MR. MACMANN: I believe we are speaking the same terms there, yes.

MR. HOLLIS: Yeah. Because I still don't get a U. I don't know what you're talking about when it comes to a U.

MR. MACMANN: Let's -- let's -- let's set that aside, Mr. Hollis, for a moment. The property south of the parking lot, the ten feet in question --

MR. HOLLIS: My client has maintained its property to the extent that it could over -- since it's owned the property, correct.

MR. MACMANN: Thank you, Mr. Hollis. Thank you very much.

MS. LOE: Any additional questions for this speaker?

MS. BURNS: I just wanted to follow up and again just trying to -- with what Mr. MacMann said. So to the best of their ability, so did they come on the other side of the fence and cut grass or rake leaves or trim branches. I'm just trying to figure out who did maintain that property?

MR. HOLLIS: Yeah. Right. So you're asking a question about something in this -- I mean no disrespect whatsoever. You're asking a question about something that's not relevant, because it doesn't have any bearing on what we're talking about with respect to the plan. However, it is in a utility easement, so, yes, it has been maintained by my client as best they could when there was a fence in the way and also when there is a utility easement that restricts what you can and cannot do. What we're proposing to do right now is to build a fence and to put landscaping in a utility easement, which could be ripped out at any point in time, right? Because the City -- so we have -- we have two arms here. We have the Planning Department and then we've got the City utilities that are going -- you know, put in whatever you want, just know we've got power lines above, we've got utilities below. At any point in time, we can rip out your fence, we can rip out any trees that you put in, we can do whatever we want. So that's how it -- I mean, you can imagine. When you have a utility easement that's in place, which it is in place, it's ten feet wide. We're talking about a 12-foot-wide portion of property. Yeah, we've maintained it, but we're also restricted in that regard.

MS. BURNS: And I appreciate that, and the City would have to have -- they couldn't come in just for no reason. There would have to be a reason in order to rip that out. I don't want to argue that point.

MR. HOLLIS: Not for fun, right. Right.

MS. BURNS: I would hope not.

MR. HOLLIS: Right. I meant if it's -- if it's encroaching upon the lines, or getting close to the lines, or if they have to repair the lines below, and this is a point that's really important that -- I'm not sure -  
- I know Rachel brought it up, but maybe it should be emphasized, is that the fence where it was before, again a poor decision on the prior property owner. But the fence where it was before blocked the City from getting to their utilities. They -- the only way they could get there was to try to come through these people's property to get there to trim trees and do whatever they wanted to do, and they were hesitant to do that because it's just rude. And so now when the fence goes -- so here again, we've got a fence that goes like this and there's 400 feet where it's up here, now when this is approved, the City can get to it from the north without restriction. And I don't know if there's anybody -- any representative from the City utilities here, but I think they would speak strongly in favor of that, and I've heard them speak strongly in favor of that in preliminary discussions regarding this plan.

MS. LOE: Any additional questions? Thank you, Mr. Hollis.

MR. HOLLIS: Thank you.

MS. LOE: Is there anyone else who would like to come forward and speak on this matter?

MS. GOVERO: My name is Jade Govero; I live at 1119 London Drive. I am one of the property owners south of this boundary. I wanted to thank every one of you for your time and expertise serving on the Commission. It's very important. We -- in addition to being a property owner, I also served as the Highland Park Association president for two years. And as you can see that this plan does encroach ten feet on property that owners have been taking care of for over the past 25 years. Besides the mention of the utilities, the City has always worked with us. And I believe in 2005, the City and the arborist -- utilities arborist worked with us in terms of what trees were being trimmed because we all know that the City prides itself on saving as many trees and -- and keeping the integrity of the trees. And so I believe those are important things to note because this plan would eliminate five mature trees in my backyard that are currently blocking light pollution, sound pollution, not only from the dealership, but from I-70 and the Business Loop. So those trees are vitally important and anything that they have in this plan will not be able to replace that. And it is important to note that I am part of the -- the legal action in which that we have -- me and my husband have filed for a quiet title based on adverse possession on July 20th, we were granted the temporary restraining order on July 30th, and the preliminary injunction on August 27th. So we wanted to be sure to inform the Commission that -- of those legal actions that are pending, we feel that it would be important for the courts to decide who is the true owner because, as I said in Missouri statute, we have the right after so many years of taking care of the property, mowing it, patching the fence, which was not falling down -- though it needed to be repaired, it was not falling down. We've planted bamboo in certain parts of the portion of my backyard, and many neighbors have taken care of

that property as -- as you are supposed to. Because of the fencing, we have exclusive rights to that, so anybody coming in and trying to take care of it is trespassing. It is our property and it has been for decades. So I would ask the Commission to vote against this request because it isn't -- the fence just needs to go back where it's at, and the trees need to stay in place. We cannot lose all these trees.

MS. LOE: Are there any questions for this speaker? Mr. Toohey?

MR. TOOHEY: So how do you feel that the current property owner or the previous property owner were neglecting the care of that part of the property?

MS. GOVERO: How do I -- they were never -- nobody ever came and knocked on the door and said, let me mow your yard, let me patch your fence. So there was just no indication that they were going to take care of it. It is our -- when you walk into the backyard, it's our yard all the way up to that fence. That is just how --

MR. TOOHEY: How long have you lived at the property?

MS. GOVERO: Four years.

MR. TOOHEY: So did you have a survey done when you purchased the property?

MS. GOVERO: No.

MR. TOOHEY: How come?

MS. GOVERO: We just went by the current plots that existed.

MR. TOOHEY: Okay. So how come you just didn't call the City and make a complaint if you felt like the property was being neglected that you didn't own?

MS. GOVERO: Because, like I said, the way that the property is enclosed, it's our property. I can walk right up to that fence and touch it, so it isn't -- was -- appeared to be our responsibility to take care of it. If my dogs got out, it was my dogs getting out on my side of the fence. And so it just -- I would never know besides utilities being above us that there would be any need to call anybody because it appears to be our property.

MR. TOOHEY: Appearing to be your property and being your property are two different things, though. That's what a survey would have demonstrated if you would have done that when you purchased the property.

MS. GOVERO: But there is no barrier and no reason for me not to maintain that portion of my yard.

MR. TOOHEY: The City doesn't have barriers around parks either. So just because they don't have a fence around a park --

MS. LOE: I would just like to interject that I don't think this group is going to be determining who owns what property. So I understand that that's going to be a -- that's a big piece of this puzzle, but as you have already said, you've taken that question to the courts and I think it's the courts who's going to decide that question. I think this group is deliberating what -- on the question of whether or not the fence can be relocated to the location that's been shown in this plan. So I understand this land ownership question is a whole subcontext that's -- but we can't speak to that. So --

MS. GOVERO: But if we lose trees, and you approve a plan that cuts all the trees, there is no way of us replacing those trees.

MS. LOE: So I would like to explain maybe a little bit why -- why the ordinance does require the fence to be on the property line and why we put the buffer -- landscape buffer on the side of the owners, because we deliberated whether or not to do that with R-1 and R-2, and it was a long discussion. And the reason it came through that way is actually for the very reason you all are in the predicament you are right now, which is, if the landscaping was on the other side, which is where the homeowners are, the R-1, R-2, then the owner that has to provide the buffer would not be able to maintain or would have a difficult time maintaining that landscape. And we felt that we couldn't require them then to put that landscape in and take care of it. So there was a -- I understand this is contrary to how it was done, but what they're asking is in line with what is in the UDC.

MS. GOVERO: I understand that, but in your decision and pending litigation, if you approve these plans and they make changes, we will not be able to reverse that because we cannot put back those trees. So I just ask that you do not approve this plan because of the pending litigation.

MS. LOE: I understand. Mr. MacMann?

MR. MACMANN: I just have one question. Ms. Govero, do you all have a court date, a date certain?

MS. GOVERO: Yes.

MR. MACMANN: What is that date, please?

MS. GOVERO: November 16th.

MR. MACMANN: Thank you very much.

MR. ZENNER: Ms. Loe, before we let this speaker go, I believe -- this is a little bit odd, but I would like to have Mr. Caldera ask the speaker a question if that is okay with the Commissioners.

MS. LOE: I see general agreement, yes.

MR. CALDERA: It's just an informative question because I couldn't find copies of the preliminary injunction. In preliminary injunction that the Court ordered, does that injunction say that the City of Columbia cannot take action?

MS. GOVERO: I don't believe so. We are just asking for you to support the neighbors in this area who have this and to vote no on it.

MR. ZENNER: And in order to potentially -- to provide an alternative to the Commission, based upon the testimony that's been given as it relates to the concern of the vegetation being removed, while the Unified Development Code does provide the option by which five inch or greater DBH trees that are existing to count towards the landscaping and the applicant's desire to allow for those existing trees that meet that criteria to be counted, there is nothing in your recommendations, should you so desire, to condition the removal of that provision specifically as it relates to this plan and not allow them to be treated in an exchange process. We could instead, if you wanted to take, for example, these trees that are clustered on the back of this particular property and ensure that they're preserved, if they're within the

boundary of what is to become a buffer, you could specifically stipulate that they need to remain and they can't be counted to offset, therefore, you're going to end up with greater amounts of vegetation in that particular area. What the applicant is attempting to do is to be able to compensate or offset the existing tree canopy which has been indicated to Ms. Bacon through the review of this project, but they want to coordinate and review the placement of these existing trees within this buffer area with these adjacent property owners. And there's been nothing stated to us at this point, as we have reviewed this project, that would indicate that there is a desire to remove those trees. However, we have to acknowledge the fact that they are in a utility easement which is controlled by the City, and the City has every right to do what it has to do in order to ensure the integrity of its utility network. Obviously, we would like to see the trees preserved personally as a City staff, however, we also have to acknowledge that those trees may be in the placement should the fence be moved to the property line such that the fence is either going to need to step back, and it further perpetuates the current position or the current situation we are in without a fence being at the established property line. Given that the trees may not be along that property line and having them preserved to satisfy or to address the concerns that the residents of London -- of London Street are indicating and are concerned about, the Commission may have options available to them as they make recommendation with this revision. I think as Ms. Loe pointed out, it is very important to keep in mind we are not determining the legal basis by which this ten feet is discussed. We are looking at the legal compliance with the Unified Development Code's screening provisions and as it relates to an amendment to an existing planned district. And I -- I don't want to be unsympathetic to the legal standing and the legal issues that are here; however, the real focus of our effort needs to be tonight does the proposed amendment meet those requirements, and if we can address in any manner the concerns that are being expressed by the property owners that are adjacent to this buffer area, the Commission needs to take appropriate steps in order to do so.

MS. LOE: Any additional questions? I had one follow-up question. The report identified that there were no significant trees, so I'm a bit curious now as to where these trees are located. Are they in the ten-foot easement?

MR. ZENNER: I would like to -- let's clarify what we mean by that, though, Ms. Loe.

MS. LOE: All right.

MR. ZENNER: Significant trees are defined as those trees 20-inch DBH and greater lying outside of the utility easement. We do -- utilities or roads, and that's very specifically called out within the tree preservation standards for the -- in the Unified Development Code in Article -- in Section 4. There may be 20-inch DBH trees located within this utility easement, but they are not by definition significant trees regulatorily. Again, the applicant has stated that they want to work with these owners to preserve those trees if they can.

MS. LOE: The report says five-inch DBH.

MR. ZENNER: Twenty-inch DBH are defined as significant trees by the code. You can credit required landscaping and screening with any tree that is five inches DBH or greater, and in good health.

That is how the -- that's how the tradeoff provisions work within the landscaping standards. So we have --

MS. LOE: And were there any trees five-inch DBH?

MR. ZENNER: Yes. Many.

MS. BACON: Yes. Yes.

MR. ZENNER: And I think that's what -- that's what the speaker is referring to, that they have trees that are much greater than five inches in their -- in the backyard area that is on the ten feet, the ten to twelve feet that is currently occupied by the fence.

MS. LOE: All right. More than five inch, less than twenty inch perhaps?

MS. BACON: Here's a -- here's a picture to try to capture those trees. And we do note the impact is much greater for these trees than what would be planted, especially for many years. But I also do want to note that many of these trees are encroaching into the power lines, and so they may have to be trimmed back a little bit. I mean, there's just a fine line. I think we're all aware that the trees do serve a purpose and that there's some challenges.

MS. GOVERO: And like I said, the utility company has come to us when they trim those trees.

MS. LOE: Ms. Burns?

MS. BURNS: Have you had any discussions with the applicant about preserving your trees?

MS. GOVERO: We have a pending lawsuit.

MS. BURNS: That's -- but prior to that, did you have any discussion with the applicant concerning the trees?

MS. GOVERO: We had a very short meeting and there was -- these ideas and the talk about moving the fence and removing all of the trees back last year in May when I had approached my neighbors who this was affecting. We sent a letter and asked them to work with us and then we never heard from them ever again until the fence came down this July.

MS. BURNS: Thank you.

MS. LOE: Additional questions? Thank you. Are there any additional speakers that would like to come forward?

MR. O'NEAL: Good evening. My name is James O'Neal; I live at 1211 London Drive. The -- I have some concerns about the particular drawing that is part of this plan. It -- I don't know. It's a very limited schematic. I believe it's meant to be in general as per -- to the entire length of that area. There are some problems with it. There's -- it shows the location of a water main that's improperly -- it doesn't show the proper location of the water main. The water main is closer to the property line. Actually, it's on the homeowner's side of the property line. And -- then it doesn't address the -- and I mentioned a retaining wall. Two of the properties have a, oh, about a two- to three-foot tall retaining wall, and it doesn't address -- it doesn't address that, as well. And I'd like to also mention that for clarity and all that, that we are also a part of a legal suit involving the adverse possession. I also would like to mention that --

THE COURT REPORTER: He needs to speak in the microphone. I can't hear him.

MR. O'NEAL: Oh, I'm sorry. Oh, I'm sorry. I would also -- did you get everything up to that point?

THE COURT REPORTER: Yes.

MR. O'NEAL: Okay. I'd also like to mention that the -- the fence was removed at -- on or about July 19th without any notification to any of the property owners. There were other property owners that had animals that would have been let out when they got home, and that would have been out on the highway. We also have small children that we -- came to us in foster care that are under our guardianship, and they don't feel safe in their backyard right now. And I just -- I think this whole plan needs to be reworked. It's not very well thought out. It was not thought out before it was -- the fence was removed, and I just was -- would recommend you deny their request. Thank you.

MS. LOE: Are there any questions for this speaker? Mr. Toohey?

MR. TOOHEY: So do you have a fence on your property that tied -- that tied into that fence?

MR. O'NEAL: Yes.

MR. TOOHEY: So did you ever get permission from the previous property owners --

MR. O'NEAL: That was the fence that -- the fence that tied into that fence was built by the adjacent property owner -- oh, good grief -- ten years ago or better.

MR. TOOHEY: But nobody -- we don't know if they got permission from the previous property owner to be able to tie into that fence?

MR. O'NEAL: No, I don't -- I haven't -- I don't have an answer to that.

MR. TOOHEY: Okay.

MS. LOE: Any additional questions? Thank you.

MR. O'NEAL: Thank you.

MS. LOE: Are there any other speakers that would like to come forward?

MS. EATON-KERSEY: Hello. My name is Susan Eaton-Kersey; I live at 1109 London -- London Drive. I am an adjoining property owner to the Subaru dealership, but not one of these property owners. I would like to address Mr. MacMann's question about who has been taking care of the property. There's only two houses in those six that have actually taken care of their property, and you could actually see that it went all the way to the edge of the asphalt that's there now. One of those owners had a landscape timber, like, flower bed that's already been back to the existing property line. The other one has, like, a playground area back there for their grandkids. But your question is only two of all of those had maintained. I don't have any problems with my fence. My neighbor and I, we redid our fence at our own cost, not even -- just -- just because we had dogs that were getting out. But I just would like to see the fence put back up so the hole is secure -- the neighborhood is secured again. I would like to see the -- the applicant put the -- for the lack of a better word, the ugly side to the -- to the homeowners so that it's harder to scale, harder to climb. Do you understand what I mean by that? And -- but that's all I wanted to do was really address Mr. MacMann's question as to who has been really taking care of the property. Only two of them. Otherwise, it's all overgrown and I have pictures. I didn't bring them printed out. I

wished I would have, but they're on my phone should you like to see them. Thank you.

MS. RUSHING: So -- I have a question.

MS. LOE: Ms. Rushing?

MS. RUSHING: So are you saying that none of those property owners except the two exceptions mowed or did anything else with that property?

MS. EATON-KERSEY: They're all overgrown. And I -- there's proof. I mean, pictures are proof. It's all overgrown, tangles, brambles. But only two of them actually kept it mowed, had everything that it was nice yard. Yeah, only two of them.

MS. LOE: Any additional questions for this speaker? Thank you. Is there anyone else that would like to speak on this matter?

MR. GOVERO: Hello. My name is Jeremy Govero; I live at 1119 London Drive. I'm not really sure -- I guess I didn't really plan on speaking, I'm not really sure where the last testimony came from. All six homeowners there take care of their property, maintain all the way towards the established fence since everyone has lived there. It has been that way since -- it has been that way since, like we said before, in the '70s, I believe, whenever initially the fence was put in. That is the same fence that encapsulates the whole neighborhood from beginning all the way around to the other side of the fence. This was not put in by the Subaru dealership or even by the previous owners. This was put in as the neighborhood years and years and years and years ago, and is where it is at. Once again, everyone takes care of their yard at this point. There's many people with children. There's many people with dogs and pets and everything that established this just to make sure -- I understand that this is about the boundary of whether or not to move, and it's not a legal issue. Just to put it in perspective of kind of like the morality almost behind this, this was not presented to homeowners. This came in and was removed in the middle of the night. I personally was on a business trip and had to come home early because was pregnant at home with animals and I had to come and help out. Other people have children and they just came out and there was fence taken down. When we approached the individuals taking it down, they became very aggressive and very rude, and they said they were going call, deal with the sheriff's department was going to come out to set us straight basically. So we called the City police to come out to establish where the line was. We had to get ahold of everyone possible. From day one, they always said this -- as soon as we started talking to them, they were going to move the fence where it should go and they're going to cut down all the trees. The attorney and these gentlemen here all have changed their story many times when it comes up. This is the first time we ever heard of any -- any plan of leaving existing trees ever came up is whenever this happened out here in the lobby at this point. They have not communicated with homeowners at all throughout the process. It has been -- the only time we spoke to three of the planned owners originally whenever we reached out to them because there was a new stake in our yard where they were claiming that's where they were at, and we were just trying to communicate and find out what was going on at that point. There was not even clear communication of whether that was a City easement or not, and that's -- that's kind of how we got to this point. So once again, I didn't

plan on speaking, but it is absolutely not true that people are not taking care of this property up to this fence line.

MS. LOE: Questions? Mr. Toohey?

MR. TOOHEY: So you're saying the neighborhood paid for that fence to go in?

MR. GOVERO: I don't know who -- what I'm saying is the same fence encapsulates the whole neighborhood way past this -- this line. This fence was not put in by whatever owner it was of this particular property. This is a huge fence that stretches all the way around all of the property.

MR. TOOHEY: But could that have been a group of property owners together who put that fence up?

MR. GOVERO: I have no idea who put in the fence. Yeah. I do not know who put in the fence. But like I said, this fence was put in as a -- it was way more than any single property. It was not -- the fence does not only address the Subaru dealership in any way.

MS. LOE: Mr. MacMann?

MR. MACMANN: If I may clarify. I have driven this to my previous point, and we'll talk about -- we'll talk about that specifically. It has the appearance -- you do real estate. It has the appearance from the road of a developer demarcation fence when the property was developed. That's what it looks like. I had no idea what it was. That's what it -- that's why I was asking those questions.

MS. LOE: Has the property been surveyed since some of these questions have come up?

MR. GOVERO: I have not -- I have not sought a survey of our own, that's why we were seeking quiet title through adverse possession. Just the Missouri law states ten years. Once again, I know this isn't the legal place for that, but ten years of ownership, and know of maintaining a property, and that's what has happened across -- well beyond ten years on all these property lines.

MR. TOOHEY: So did you -- did your wife not just say you've only lived there four years.

MR. GOVERO: And there's a legal precedent called tacking, which actually backs up to ownership -- previous ownership that owns properties -- previous owners, yeah.

MS. LOE: Any additional questions for this speaker? Thank you.

MR. GOVERO: Thank you all very much. I appreciate your time.

MS. LOE: Any additional speakers on this matter?

MS. STEVENS: Hi. My name is Lisa Stevens, and I live at 1111 London Drive, which is not in the property dispute. I have lived at 1111 London since 2006. I owned a condo, and the first year I moved in, I had to scoop up a bunch of snow and had to do a lot of --

MS. RUSHING: You're going to have to lean in.

MS. STEVENS: I'm sorry. I realize as a homeowner there are a lot of responsibilities that I didn't have with a condo that I had. One of them was the fence. In the past, I built a fence on both sides of my neighbors. I asked permission. The back fence, I got a call one day from the City telling me that I had overgrown weeds. I take care of my lawn. I didn't have overgrown weeds. I had them come out and look at my property. But what we did notice was there were overgrown weeds behind my fence where

University Subaru was. They have a body shop. The City contacted them. Within a week, they had not only taken the weeds out, but they turned around and they -- they dug out every weed, every bad thing that was coming through my fence and they pruned it and they took care of it with a phone call. That -- that was neighborly. I appreciated it. I've had my dog get out. University Subaru has been the first to call me and say, hey, your dog is out. They've been neighborly. I've also got neighbors, Jade. She's here, nine months pregnant, and she's a neighbor. She's been neighborly. I don't like to see any of this, but what is the law is the law. And what we're trying to do here is work together. And I just see no not working together. I, for one, would like to see it end tonight, the fence go up so people didn't have to -- I mean, I do know that University Subaru has asked property owners to put up a temporary fence while this is going on. Some people have been very pleased with that idea and some people have taken offense and moved it once it's been put up. So please let's get this thing resolved and make everybody happy. I don't know if it's possible.

MS. LOE: Thank you. Are there any questions for this speaker? I don't see any. Thank you. Any additional speakers?

MS. ANDRES: Hello. My name is Dawn Andres; I live at 1215 London, which is on the very corner, and so my property is adjacent to Olive Garden. I've lived at that property since about 1994, so I have a perspective on who has taken care of that land, and I can tell you that my sister who actually owns that property, I live there, but she owns it. The two of us have taken care of that property knowing full well that we did not own it. We knew where that property line was and yet we were required to take care of it simply because nobody else would. So over time, it essentially has become our responsibility. In recent years -- well, at one point, we took a lilac bush and moved that lilac bush back there. We've added other plants. I try to go with sustainable natives if I can, like a service berry bush and a ninebark to make that land look, you know, pretty good. And I also have a garden back there which, at the moment, is crossed over on that property line, and it will take time for me to move that. I'm somewhat ambivalent. I know how hard it is to take care of that land because it is Missouri -- I like to call it the weed state. So I know how hard it's going to be to take care of that land, either for University Chrysler or me in the future. I would appreciate some time in order to -- if I have to move things, to be able to do so for that fence to be moved. So if -- if that fence has to go up right now, I'm not sure I'm going to be able to do it without -- without some help. I have several plants I would like to -- to move off of that property if they are going to just put in this landscaping that they're calling for. And as to the landscaping that they're calling for, I do not see that it will ever get to a point that it would screen from the noise of I-70 or provide a light barrier. They seem to be ornamental in nature. I doubt very seriously they will get above an eight-foot fence. I hope they address that. I would like to see them address that because the sound and the light coming from the property and I-70 is extensive. It's -- it -- it reduces the quality of experience in your backyard. So having mature trees that are of a certain height and fill out allows you to experience less of that noise. I have actually -- my sister and I have put a pond in our backyard also to mask the sound, to help with that. So I would hope that you would take those considerations, the time we've put into the property, the

fact that it may change the character of our neighborhood. I would hope you would take that into consideration, as well. Thank you.

MS. LOE: Thank you. Are there any questions for this speaker? Thank you, Ms. Andres. Any additional speakers?

MR. ROBBIE: Hello. My name is Paul Robbie; I live at 1214 London Drive, and thank you all for letting me come here this evening. I don't live adjacent to the property, but I live directly across the property. And I think the last speaker might have touched on what I wanted to ask about. I think some questions is, they talk about a fence, and I was wondering what kind of fence we're talking about. Because I looked on the plans, I also asked their attorney what kind of fence are they talking about, and he didn't seem to know any specifics of what kind of fence it was. And just the fact that I-70 is probably as closest to any place in Columbia to any residential area and the fact that their business is a noisy business, I would sure like to see maybe some type of an idea of what kind of fence and maybe I don't know what the laws are, or the requirements are, but take in some consideration whether it would be somewhat soundproof. I stand with some neighbors here, but I don't -- I figured someday it's going to get sorted out and there's going to be a fence, so I'd sure like to see that fence to be somewhat soundproof. At times, when you live there -- I live right across the street -- just right across the street from it. The hum kind of puts you to sleep from the highway, but since the fence came down, it's a roar now. And so also I would like to touch on something, whether or not -- maybe it's a question whether or not beings as they've opened this up and decided to do a new fence, is there any other rules or laws about lighting on their property. Should they have certain type of lighting for parking lots and -- and if they're not in compliance, could they be required to be in compliance at this point. Maybe -- maybe somebody could look into that. Maybe somebody could educate them on what they need and maybe make them a little more happier about doing that and maybe being a little better neighbor, because I personally know that their lights affect me and be a little bit quiet about not wanting to care of it. Maybe a little education there on their part might help. And I think I'm probably done. I appreciate the time, and if there is anybody got any questions, I'd --

MS. LOE: So the drawings show an eight-foot wooden privacy fence.

MR. ROBBY: Right.

MS. LOE: But you're asking for more details about what that fence --

MR. ROBBY: Yeah. I would like to -- I hear an eight-foot privacy fence. That's what I hear.

MS. LOE: Eight-foot wooden privacy fence; right.

MR. ROBBY: Privacy fence. It's a privacy fence.

MS. LOE: And to answer your second question, yes, we do have a lighting ordinance, but maybe Ms. Bacon can explain how this would apply to an existing property?

MR. ZENNER: This project is subject to a previously approved development plan that has gone through subsequent amendments. The old code, which had differing lighting standards, are what apply. And as far as we understand at this point, the site is in compliance with that previously applied code. The

only way that we end up with revisions to the lighting plan is if the property is significantly modified beyond what is allowed under the existing amendments procedure. This amendment is limited to just this buffer. It is not applying to the remaining portion of the site. I would tell you if this project probably came in today, there are many things that are not consistent with our current regulatory standards that would be required to be upgraded if the site were to be redeveloped as a car lot. But right now, the project, with the exception of this buffer area, is, as we understand it, in compliance. There are no outstanding violations on the project. I would suggest that there appears to be maybe a little bit of a -- there may be a communication blockage between the affected property owners and D&D and the dealership. An olive branch may need to be reached across whatever fence gets built here in the future in order to resolve some of those differences. The -- the owner is here and questions to the owner may be warranted from the Commission and if he is interested in responding to those questions, it -- that's his choice. But I would suggest that there is nothing that we have found here with the exception of the buffer area that is actually in violation, and to resolve matters that you would like to have taken care of as property owners requires working cooperatively. If there is a glare issue, that is something that can be reported and we can address that through inspection of the site, but it does have to be reported. It does need to be in writing. The complaint needs to be filed with our Building and Site Development Division at which point then we will have an inspector investigate and we will identify what may or may not need to be corrected to bring the property into former compliance -- former regulatory code compliance. We cannot force this property to become compliant with today's standards.

MR. ROBBIE: Can I ask something? Can I ask him something? Is there -- there isn't any -- any laws about lighting a parking lot as to the way they have to do it?

MR. ZENNER: There are today. Unfortunately --

MR. ROBBY: That's -- they're grandfathering something before, but they're not grandfathering the -- their -- okay. Well, I understand. I guess I understand.

MR. ZENNER: The difference -- again, I want to point out. The reason we're here this evening is due to the fact that they could have gone back in and put in 1972 landscaping, which did not have a fence. It had some trees, which were inappropriate for this particular buffer within the span. They have chosen to come and request that the fence be moved to the southern property line and installed and then landscaped in accordance to the current UDC. They are taking upon themselves the responsibility of bringing this buffer area for this -- this distance up to the current regulatory standard. And it is a marked difference along the southerly property line, as you move to the east, that our arborist, in the review of the 1983 expansion plan, identified the need for different landscaping in order to fulfill screening and buffering requirements between an intense automobile use and an existing residential neighborhood, and that could be seen in the field today. So the proposal would in -- to an extent match up with what was through hindsight, I believe, after many complaints of the residential neighbors prior to the acquisition of this property by University Subaru -- I have a whole file on them -- between 1972 and '83 about this particular line. Those complaints were received by our offices. They were corrected as we moved to the east.

They did not retroactively come back and take care of them on the west. Today, we're trying to retroactively take care of them, but just not affecting the rest of the project site. We do have mechanisms within our regulatory structure that if there is an issue with the property that you feel it's in violation of a code or a requirement, such as lighting, report that to our Building and Site Development Department on the third floor of City Hall and we will have our inspectors address that.

MR. ROBBIE: And the fence is a wooden fence?

MS. LOE: That's what the drawing says.

MR. ZENNER: It would be, again, a solid privacy fence with landscaping sitting in front of it to the applicant's side.

MS. LOE: Solid wooden fence.

MR. ROBBIE: Okay. I guess I'm --

MS. LOE: Any questions for this speaker? I don't see any. Thank you.

MR. ROBBIE: Thank you all.

MS. LOE: Any final speakers on this matter?

MR. VELAN: I'm Lloyd Velan, and I live at 1203 London Drive, known as Lloyd of London. I'm one of those who have kept up the land behind the house I -- and this is an assumption, and they say you're not supposed to assume all the time, but I assumed that my yard went all the way back to the wooden fence. And so I was one -- I cut the grass underneath the trees and this was my contention when I first heard about. I heard -- was probably one of the first individuals to know that Subaru was going to build a new fence. Two individuals from the other side of the fence approached me and said, did you know that the owners were going to build a new fence? I said no. So then I asked my neighbor if they had heard it. No, they had had (sic). And so this is -- it got off to a bad start at the beginning because we were not officially notified that there was going to be a replacement. We were not notified when a fence would come down and then, to our surprise, a year later, the fence did come down. And as stated before, there were -- one family had small children, two other families had dogs. I kind of conditioned myself when I first moved in, which was four years ago, I put up a fence myself right behind the wooden fence because I figured someday somebody is liable to drive through the wooden one and my dog will be gone, and I did not want that. A statement was made that the fence was literally falling down. That's not 100 percent accurate. They took a chainsaw to take it down, so it wasn't exactly falling. It had holes in it, it needed repair. I repaired some from my side. And then a statement was made on taking care of it. I think every one of us six that are involved directly in this assumed and took care of that. And far as Subaru taking care of it or the previous owners, that was not done by them, I know, because I never seen anyone from there cutting my grass or anybody else's grass or any brush or anything like that. So that's not 100 percent accurate either. And there was a gate that adjoined my yard, but it was screwed shut and wired so nobody ever passed through that. And as far as I know, that was the only way that they had to get to our ground. So like I say, I agree with the lady. I wish we had better peace in the neighborhood. Subaru has not been a bad neighbor to me, I can say that. But if we had been properly notified from the

beginning, it would have been a lot better situation. I -- I'm not -- I don't care who owns the ten feet of ground, as far as that goes, but I do care about the trees being removed, and that is my greatest concern. And far as their stating with the electric company in that, we've never, to my knowledge, have had any problem with them coming and trimming our trees and taking care of it as it should be, so that has not been an issue at all. So I -- if you have any question, well, I'd be happy to answer.

MS. LOE: Thank you. Are there any questions for this speaker? I see none. Thank you, sir. Any other speakers? Anybody left? Calling once, calling twice. Okay. We are going to close the public comment period.

#### **PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED**

MS. LOE: Commissioner discussion? Ms. Rushing?

MS. RUSHING: I believe that this application is premature, and I am uncomfortable in voting in favor of it until the legal issues are resolved. And I don't see any rush in approving this, so I don't see why we couldn't wait until after the legal issues are resolved. And I just have -- I just feel like this may -- application may be part of their litigation strategy and that also concerns me.

MS. LOE: Thank you. Mr. Toohey?

MR. TOOHEY: I have a question for staff. So what triggered this to become a major amendment?

MR. ZENNER: It was the movement of the fence that had by default been placed upon every plan amendment that we have available to us from 1983 moving forward, and then that we were modifying as in the modification procedures for the plan district. A minor amendment is something that does not modify the project such that it changes the amenities, such as landscaping, open space, common area, or recreation facilities. It was our conclusion that the 1972 plan required a landscape area, the fence, which it appeared on every plan revision after 1983 by default defined where it was, and therefore they were wanting to remove a -- an element that had been de facto required. And going back and in the documentation that was provided to the applicant and to the applicant's engineer, between 1976 and, I believe, 1983, or it may have been with the 1983 plan amendment, there were specific provisions within the rendering of the then Planning Commission's decision on approving the modification that was proposed a very bizarre statement, one that said, well, you, the applicant, have a choice. You can either bolster your screening by placing a fence or increasing the number of pine trees you put along this buffer area. Apparently, when the '83 approval came forward for the amendment for the body shop, nothing had been done, and it was at that point that the best we can tell from our staff research of the records, the fence showed up and showed up moving forward to this time today. So they chose at that point, the best we can conclude based on the record, that the fence was there as a mandatory improvement based upon what the Commission's conditions of approval were either in 1976 or 1983. And it does not qualify, in our opinion, when we reviewed this request initially as a minor amendment, because you're moving a plan defined element and it further was encroaching on an area that based on the 1972 plan and the landscaping detail that Ms. Bacon referred to as the area for the plantings, so it

was -- while it is swapping where the landscape area would be if we were to take and accept this plan, it still was considered in our mind a major amendment. And as Mr. Hollis pointed out, typically this would have been considered a minor related matter. The preponderance of the evidence that was available to us, however, we did not conclude that it was a minor amendment. And again, as I referred to earlier, I have an entire file of property-owner issues associated with the then University Chrysler dealership and these property owners to the south as it related to maintenance, screening, and all of the other things that we have talked about this evening. And given that and given the history associated with this, we did not feel that this was something that we, as a staff, were comfortable making an amendment recommendation on administratively. We felt that this was a matter that needed to be brought to a public hearing and addressed and discussed. Again, the matter here is, does the proposed change comply with the City's Code requirements, not necessarily the legal issue that is in play due to the land. And our staff analysis finds that this is fully in compliance with the regulatory standards of the Unified Development Code. We have gone through our entire public process and we've rendered that recommendation to you this evening. You do have the option, as with any case, you can take action to approve, deny. You could recommend tabling as a result of a desire to have more information, so that does -- that would apply in this particular instance. And given the November 16th date of the pending court action, if that is what you so desire, that, I believe, is within your purview per the Code.

MS. LOE: Mr. Toohey?

MR. TOOHEY: That's all.

MS. LOE: Ms. Burns?

MS. BURNS: I appreciate that, Mr. Zenner. I think we have some options here. I, too, don't think there's any hurry in this. I think the tabling might be the best way to go, particularly with the accuracy of some of the information that we have received tonight. We have the applicant's attorney saying that they had fully maintained the property, and we have other property owners saying that they had cut the grass and maintained bushes and put in plantings, so I'm confused and concerned about what I've heard tonight, and would be in favor of a tabling.

MS. LOE: I'm going to jump in again, because I think that goes back to the issue of adverse possession or land ownership, and I don't think that's what's presented in front of us. I think the case in front of us is about whether or not a -- this is a correct location for a fence, and I think we can evaluate that regardless of where the property line is. And I think we can actually comment on some of the information we've gotten tonight, including communication, which does not seem to have been forthcoming on part of this. We could add requirements about trees, and we could talk a little bit about additional screening or other components that we think, regardless of where the fence -- I mean, the fence is going to go on the property line. What we're not deliberating here is where that property line is. Mr. MacMann?

MR. MACMANN: Yes. But as Ms. Rushing says, she expressed a concern that this may be part of the litigation strategy. I don't know. But I do know this; as you guys know, many of you do know, I've

been in several civil issues over time. And any action taken by any government body sends a message to the Court. And I'm gravely concerned that we say yes, and the Court is, like, well, the City said it was okay, I don't see what the problem is. I don't want to rubber stamp. I don't want to speak to anyone's motives. We obviously have much conflicting information. The Court is going to see that, too -- conflicting information, and I'm not talking about the veracity of the information. The Court is going to see conflicting information, and I hope they wouldn't think that we played Solomon if we said yes. Well, they figured it out, they know what the land -- laws are. I think with Ms. Burns' point, we don't know. And I don't think waiting till after the 16th, the meeting after that is the 22nd, I don't see how waiting hurts anyone. It would save the trees for the moment. It's just in limbo. This has apparently been something that's gone on for a year at least, and there is conflictual information. I believe they wish to exercise their option, if they're approved, to act right away. I think waiting is best.

MS. LOE: Additional comments?

MR. MACMANN: I have a motion.

MS. LOE: Ms. Russell?

MS. RUSSELL: I have a question for Mr. Zenner. When is the first Commission meeting after the 16th?

MR. ZENNER: One moment here.

MS. RUSSELL: The 22nd is Thanksgiving.

MR. MACMANN: Oh, it's the Thanksgiving. Oh, thank you.

MS. RUSSELL: I'm sorry. I'm cooking.

MR. ZENNER: Your next meeting after the November 16th would be the December 6th meeting due to the Thanksgiving holiday. We do not meet the second meeting in November.

MS. RUSSELL: If anybody else doesn't have anything to say, I'll make a motion.

MS. LOE: I do feel like this is a decision or a question about simply what happens on the property line, not where the property line is, and I do want to say that. It's clear in my mind, but I do understand

Mr. MacMann's comment, and Ms. Rushing, that others may construe that in other ways, so I understand. Ms. Russell?

MS. RUSSELL: I'm not going to make a motion yet, but I do have a comment. I do think it was -- this is just a pretty cut and dried thing. If we approve this and they put up a fence, then, oops, they have to tear it down and -- and that's an expense to them. I think the way this has all happened has been unbelievably inconsiderate, and I don't think waiting is a bad thing. We can just put off making this technical decision until we really truly have more information. That's just my opinion. So with nobody saying anything else, I do have a motion.

MS. LOE: Mr. Hollis wanted to make another --

MR. ZENNER: And let me -- let me preface, however, before you just allow Mr. Hollis to come to the podium.

MS. LOE: Yes.

MR. ZENNER: You would need to reopen the hearing for the purpose of just receiving the one comment or allow others to respond to the one comment, and I believe that it is -- as Mr. Hollis was explaining to me, and I wasn't trying to ignore Ms. Russell. I believe it is germane to the decision as it relates to a motion that may be making. So, Ms. Chairman, if you would like to reopen the hearing, allow Mr. Hollis, and then any of the other adjacent property owners that have given testimony here this evening to come forward and respond, that would be probably appropriate, but you are not obligated to do so.

MS. LOE: Okay. Mr. MacMann first.

MR. MACMANN: I have a comment. I'm sorry, folks, my back is bothering me. I need to stand up. I respect Mr. Hollis' ability to speak, and he should be allowed to speak, but we have folks with kids here and let's be kind of cognizant. This may go on for another minute if Mr. Hollis speaks. Just FYI. Just a procedural comment.

MS. LOE: Any other discussion?

MS. RUSSELL: I don't see any problem with opening it back up.

MR. TOOHEY: If there's relevant information we need to hear, I mean, we've been here until 2:00 in the morning before, so --

MR. MACMANN: True enough.

MS. LOE: So we're going to open the public discussion back up at this time.

#### **PUBLIC HEARING REOPENED**

MS. LOE: We do need name and address again for the public record.

MR. HOLLIS: Thank you. Robert Hollis, attorney with the VanMatre Law Firm, 1103 East Broadway. And -- and so I have no intention of trying to rebut anything that's been said, but I really do have, I think, everybody's best intentions in mind here. So without rebutting anything that we've heard, I do want to say this, based on what it appears that you're considering and that would be tabling it. And I just want you to know from our perspective, that's okay. It's okay. It's a really bad decision on behalf of the neighbors. It's a bad decision, but if that's your decision, okay. I just want you to understand that we're not opposed. You could table this for a year and it doesn't hurt us. We are trying to get the fence in place for the neighbors. If you want to put that decision off or punt it to City Council or whatever at some later date, that's okay. But just please keep in mind, it does not hurt us in any way, shape, or form. It has no bearing whatsoever on litigation, so just so you know. Thank you.

MS. LOE: Thank you, Mr. Hollis. Any questions for Mr. Hollis? Are there any other speakers that would like to come forward?

MS. STEVENS: Yeah. I have a question.

MS. LOE: You have to come forward and speak into the microphone, please. And please state your name and address.

MS. STEVENS: My name is Lisa Stevens; I'm at 1111 London Drive. And I just --

MR. ZENNER: Before -- before we go down this road, please --

MS. STEVENS: Yes.

MR. ZENNER: -- questions are directed to the Commission and to the Commission only. We are not doing cross-examination of people that are in the audience.

MS. STEVENS: Okay.

MR. ZENNER: So if you could address your question to the Commission, the public hearing is still open. Mr. Hollis can come up and respond to that if he feels it's necessary.

MS. STEVENS: There was a statement made earlier this evening about -- and I think Ms. Burns pointed it out -- where Mr. Hollis said that Subaru was maintaining the property, that ten feet. And I would like for him to have an opportunity to possibly relook at that.

MS. LOE: I just want to reiterate that this isn't a question about who has been taking care of that land or who owns that land. This is a question about whether or not the fence can be built on the property line. So I'm just going to say, as the Chair, I don't think that's really an appropriate question to be brought forth in this setting. I think that's a question for the Court where the case is being brought forward about property issues. I don't mean any disrespect. I just think this isn't the proper setting for that discussion. Are there any other comments?

MR. GOVERO: Yes. My name is Jeremy Govero; I live at 1119 London Drive. I'd just like to also say that I -- I agree with the gentleman here. There is no issue at all with moving this forward and waiting for the courts to decide. I am involved in one of the court cases, and I absolutely feel that they are using you all as a way and as a mechanism inside of their court case. I have been in the courtroom several times with them now, and I have watched them systematically try to use the City and other options to their advantage inside the situation, just like I was mentioning before with the sheriff's department and these things. And once again, we are very happy being on the other side of the fence to let -- to wait another month or two months to allow this to play out in court and take the right case. And as some of other neighbors have said, the issue, once again, is not some kind of argument over ten foot. It's about the trees, and it's just about the process, to make sure this goes through the right direction. So we are happy to wait a little bit longer and we would love for you all to wait to make a decision until the courts have made a decision. That would be great with us.

MS. LOE: Thank you. Are there any questions for this speaker? I don't see any. Thank you.

MR. GOVERO: Thank you all again.

MS. LOE: All right. Any other speakers? I'd just ask that we not reiterate any comments that would be -- were made previously. We've -- those are in the public record now, so these are just new comments in response to anything that's been said at this point.

MR. O'NEAL: James O'Neal, 1211 London Drive. I have no problem with tabling this matter.

MS. LOE: Thank you, sir. Are there any questions for this speaker? I don't see any. Thank you. Any additional speakers? Seeing none, we're going to close the second round of public hearing.

**PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED**

MS. LOE: Commission discussion? Ms. Russell, did you have a motion to make?

MS. RUSSELL: I do have a motion. In the case of 18-182, I move to table the planned development plan major amendment to the Commission meeting on December 6, 2018.

MS. RUSHING: Second.

MR. MACMANN: Second.

MS. LOE: Oh, we have two seconds. I think Ms. Rushing beat Mr. MacMann to the line there, so Ms. Rushing. May we have a vote, please.

MS. BURNS: Absolutely.

**Roll Call Vote (Voting "yes" is to recommend approval.) Voting Yes: Mr. Harder, Mr. MacMann, Ms. Rushing, Ms. Russell, Mr. Toohey, Ms. Burns, Ms. Loe. Motion carries 7-0.**

MS. BURNS: Seven to zero, tabling request carries.

MS. LOE: Thank you. That concludes our public hearings and our cases for the evening. Thank you all for joining us.